

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 661 / JULY 2006

FISCAL POLICY IN A MONETARY ECONOMY WITH CAPITAL AND FINITE LIFETIME

by Barbara Annicchiarico, Nicola Giammarioli and Alessandro Piergallini



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 661 / JULY 2006

FISCAL POLICY IN A MONETARY ECONOMY WITH CAPITAL AND FINITE LIFETIME'

> by Barbara Annicchiarico², Nicola Giammarioli³ and Alessandro Piergallini⁴



This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=916096

In 2006 all ECB publications will feature a motif taken from the €5 banknote.





I We wish to thank Giancarlo Marini, Luca Onorante, Jean-Pierre Vidal, Juergen von Hagen and seminar participants at the ECB for very useful comments and discussions. This paper has also benefited from the detailed comments of an anonymous referee. Alessandro Piergallini is grateful to the Fiscal Policies Division of the European Central Bank for kind hospitality. Financial support from CNR and the FIRB project is acknowledged. The opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank. A detailed technical appendix is available from the authors upon request.

2 Department of Economics, University of Rome 'Tor Vergata', Via Columbia 2, 00133' Rome, Italy; e-mail: barbara.annicchiarico@uniroma2.it

3 European Central Bank, Fiscal Policies Division, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: nicola.giammarioli@ecb.int

4 Department of Economics, University of Rome 'Tor Vergata', Via Columbia 2, 00133 Rome, Italy; e-mail: alessandro.piergallini@uniroma2.it

© European Central Bank, 2006

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

| Abstract | | | | 4 |
|--|---|--------|-----------------------------------|----------|
| Non-technical summary | | | | 5 |
| 1 | Introduction | | | 6 |
| 2 | The model | | | 8 |
| | 2.1 Consumers | | imers | 8 |
| | | 2.1.1 | The individual optimizing problem | 9 |
| 2.1.2 Aggregation | | 2.1.2 | Aggregation | 13 |
| | 2.2 | Firms | | 14 |
| | | 2.2.1 | Final goods firm | 14 |
| | | 2.2.2 | Intermediate goods firm | 14 |
| | | 2.2.3 | Capital producers | 15 |
| | 2.3 | The m | nonetary authority | 16 |
| | 2.4 | The fi | iscal authority | 17 |
| | | 2.4.1 | Debt-based tax rule | 17 |
| | | 2.4.2 | Balanced-budget rule | 18 |
| | 2.5 | Marke | et clearing | 19 |
| 3 | Calibration | | | 19 |
| 4 | Fiscal policy and equilibrium dynamics | | | 21 |
| | 4.1 Debt-based tax rule | | based tax rule | 21 |
| | 4.2 | Balan | ced-budget rule | 24 |
| 5 | Stochastic simulations | | 25 | |
| 6 | 6 Conclusions | | | 27 |
| Appendix A: Individual consumption | | | | 28 |
| Appendix B: The dynamic equation for | | | • | 20 |
| | | | aggregate consumption | 29 |
| - | Appendix C: Linearized equilibrium conditions | | | 31 34 |
| - | Appendix D: Model solution | | | |
| Appendix E: 'Active' and 'passive' fiscal policy | | | | 35 |
| References | | | | 35 |
| Tables and figures | | | | 40 |
| European Central Bank Working Paper Series | | | | 49 |

2

Abstract

This paper develops a dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model with nominal rigidities, capital accumulation and finite lifetimes. The framework exhibits intergenerational wealth effects and is intended to investigate the macroeconomic implications of fiscal policy, which is specified by either a debt-based tax rule or a balanced-budget rule allowing for temporary deficits. When calibrated to euro area quarterly data, the model predicts that fiscal expansions generate a tradeoff in output dynamics between short-term gains and medium-term losses. It is also shown that the effects of fiscal shocks crucially depend upon the conduct of monetary policy. Simulation analysis suggests that balanced-budget requirements enhance the determinacy properties of feedback interest rate rules by guaranteeing inflation stabilization.

JEL Classification: E52; E58; E63.

Keywords: Fiscal Policy; Monetary Policy; Nominal Rigidities; Capital Accumulation; Finite Lifetime; Simulations.

Non-Technical Summary

The implications of alternative fiscal policies and the joint role of fiscal and monetary policies for macroeconomic stability and price developments are major topics in the ongoing policy debate as well as in the academic research. In the European Union the fiscal rules established by the Maastricht Treaty and the Stability and Growth Pact are consistent with the view that fiscal discipline and sound budgetary positions are necessary for macroeconomic and price stability, even in the presence of fully independent monetary authorities.

This paper presents a dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model with price stickiness, capital accumulation, investment adjustment costs and intergenerational wealth effects. Ricardian equivalence does not hold in our framework, because the assumption of identical infinitely-lived private agents is relaxed. In our general set-up with finitely-lived individuals, financial wealth affects the dynamics of aggregate consumption. Hence, the dynamics of both public debt and asset prices, as well as the money market, do matter for the monetary and fiscal policy transmission mechanisms. The main aim of the present paper is to investigate the role of fiscal policy for business cycle fluctuations and the macroeconomic performance of alternative fiscal rules. In particular, fiscal policy is described by either a debt-based tax rule or a balanced-budget rule allowing for temporary deficits. Monetary policy is summarized by a standard Taylor rule.

When calibrated to euro area quarterly data, the model predicts that equilibrium determinacy depends on the specification of fiscal policy. The 'Taylor principle' (the prescription that the long-run increase in the nominal interest rate for each permanent increase in inflation should be more than one-to-one) might not be sufficient for equilibrium determinacy under a 'passive' feedback tax-rule of the Leeper-style, ensuring fiscal solvency. On the other hand, under a balanced-budget fiscal rule, both 'passive' and 'active' monetary policies may be compatible with equilibrium uniqueness.

We find that fiscal expansions are likely to generate a trade-off in output dynamics between short-term gains and medium-term losses. Specifically, positive fiscal shocks are expansionary in the short run but are shown to induce persistent negative effects on economic activity in the medium run. Furthermore, we show that the macroeconomic effects of fiscal shocks crucially depend on the conduct of monetary policy. This result provides support to the view that controlling for monetary policy is essential for an accurate empirical characterization of the effects of fiscal shocks. Finally, simulation analysis suggests that balanced-budget requirements, beyond enhancing the determinacy properties of feedback interest rate rules $\dot{a} \ la$ Taylor, are suitable for guaranteeing inflation stabilization.

1 Introduction

The implications of different fiscal policies and the interaction between fiscal and monetary policies in terms of macroeconomic stability and price developments are key topics in the current policy debate as well as in the academic research. In particular, fiscal discipline and sound budgetary positions are considered to be essential for macroeconomic and price stability, even in the presence of a fully independent monetary authority. This is reflected in the fiscal rules enshrined in the Maastricht Treaty and the Stability and Growth Pact of the European Union.¹

Dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (DSGE) models, incorporating imperfect competition and nominal rigidities, are increasingly adopted as the basic tool-kit for the evaluation of monetary policy.² However, in the infinitely-lived representative agent paradigm in which the Ricardian equivalence holds, changes in public debt have no effect on aggregate consumption and potential redistributions of wealth across generations are neglected. Fiscal policy matters for price stability mainly when it is 'active' in Leeper (1991)'s sense and the stability of real public debt is not respected for any bounded sequences of all other endogenous variables.³ Alternatively, the introduction of distortionary taxation, along the lines suggested by Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004), or the introduction of rule-of-thumb consumers, as proposed by Galí, López-Salido and Vallés (2003, 2004), allow to examine the non-trivial implications of 'passive' fiscal policies, when fiscal solvency is guaranteed.

In this paper we focus on a different line of research in which the Ricardian equivalence proposition is not satisfied, because the assumption of identical infinitely-lived private agents is relaxed. Starting from the finite-lifetime approach first outlined by Yaari (1965) and Blanchard (1985), we enrich the analysis by incorporating the overlapping generations

¹The general government deficit should not exceed the 3% to GDP reference value and the debt to GDP ratio should be below 60% or, if above, approach to that reference value at a satisfactory pace. Furthermore, EMU Member States are required to have medium term objectives, which range from 1% deficit to close to balance or in surplus positions, depending on the country specific public debt ratio and potential growth.

²See Rotemberg and Woodford (1997, 1999), Clarida, Galí and Gertler (1999), McCallum and Nelson (1999a, 1999b), Taylor (1999a), Galí (2003), Woodford (2003), and references therein.

³See Woodford (1998, 2001, 2003).

(OLG) setup into a DSGE monetary model with nominal rigidities, capital accumulation and investment adjustment costs. We calibrate a linearized version of the model using euro area quarterly data. Fiscal policy is described by either a debt-based tax rule or a balanced-budget rule allowing for temporary deficits, while monetary policy is summarized by a standard Taylor rule. The proposed model is able to capture micro-founded wealth effects that influence aggregate consumption dynamics. Therefore, the LM relation and the dynamics of both public debt and asset prices matter for the monetary and fiscal policy transmission mechanisms. The theoretical framework we describe proves to be particularly suitable for the analysis of macroeconomic implications of fiscal policy, also when the fiscal authority aims at avoiding explosive paths for the public debt.

Analyzing the role of different fiscal policy rules for business cycle fluctuations and for the design of monetary policy, we find that equilibrium determinacy is affected by the specification of fiscal policy. First, the 'Taylor principle' (the nominal interest rate responding more than one-to-one to a permanent increase in inflation in the long run⁴) might not be sufficient for equilibrium determinacy under a 'passive' feedback tax-rule of the Leeper-style. Second, both 'passive' and 'active' monetary policies are compatible with equilibrium uniqueness under a balanced-budget rule.

A key prediction of the model is that fiscal expansions tend to generate an intertemporal trade-off: positive fiscal shocks are expansionary in the short run but are likely to generate persistent adverse effects on economic activity in the medium run, shading some light in the debate on the so called non-keynesian effects. We also show that the effects of fiscal policy crucially depend on the type of monetary policy rule adopted by the central bank, providing a sound micro-founded rationale for the view, first suggested by Sims (1988), that empirical studies on the effects of fiscal policy should explicitly take into account monetary factors.⁵ Finally, simulation analysis supports the view that balanced-

⁴See, e.g., Bullard and Mitra (2002) McCallum (2003), and Woodford (2001, 2003) for a discussion.

 $^{^5\}mathrm{See},$ for instance, Perotti (2002) and Mountford and Uhlig (2005) for empirical approaches along these lines.

budget requirements, beyond enhancing the determinacy properties of feedback interest rate rules, are suitable for preserving price stability.

The structure of the paper is as follows. In Section 2 we present the model, derive the first order conditions and introduce the policy rules. The model is linearized around a non-stochastic steady state and calibrated to euro area quarterly data in Section 3. Section 4 examines equilibrium properties and dynamics under alternative fiscal and monetary policy rules. In Section 5 we develop stochastic simulations and assess the performance of different combinations of policy rules. The main conclusions are summarized in Section 6.

2 The Model

In this Section we develop a DSGE model extended to incorporate capital accumulation and overlapping generations. The economy consists of seven types of agents: finitelylived consumers, perfectly competitive life insurance companies, a continuum of firms producing differentiated intermediate goods and setting nominal prices in a staggered fashion, perfectly competitive final goods firms, perfectly competitive capital producers, the monetary authority and the fiscal authority.

2.1 Consumers

The demand-side is described by a stochastic discrete-time version of the Yaari (1965)-Blanchard (1985) OLG model with no intergenerational bequest motive, extended to include endogenous labor supply and money holding choices.⁶

The economy is populated by forward looking agents with identical preferences and facing the same constant probability of death, $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, in each time period. Birth and death rates are the same. For analytical convenience, total population is normalized to one. Hence, in each time period a new cohort of size λ is born and a fraction of equal

⁶A continuous-time monetary version of the Blanchard-Yaari framework has been previously developed by Marini and van der Ploeg (1988).

size of the population dies. At time t the size of the generation born at time $s \leq t$ is $\lambda (1-\lambda)^{t-s}$. Since the probability of death is constant overtime, the expected life horizon of an agent born at time s is given by $\sum_{t-s=1}^{\infty} (t-s)\lambda (1-\lambda)^{t-s-1} = 1/\lambda$. It should be noted that for $\lambda \to 0$ the expected lifetime $1/\lambda \to \infty$, i.e. agents face an infinite life horizon.

Since there is no intergenerational altruism and lifetime is uncertain, a perfectly competitive life insurance market is assumed to be operative as in Yaari (1965) and Blanchard (1985). In particular, in order to avoid unintended bequest, insurance companies collect financial wealth from the deceased members of the population and pay fair premia to survivors. The zero profit condition in the insurance sector requires that the gross return on the insurance contract, that is incorporated into the individual flow budget constraint, is given by $1/(1 - \lambda)$.

2.1.1 The Individual Optimizing Problem

Individuals face stochastic sequences of prices, interest rates, taxes and profit shares, and decide on consumption, real money holdings, labor supply and wealth accumulation. Real money balances yield direct utility in the spirit of Sidrauski (1967) and Brock (1975).⁷ Total non-human wealth consists of money, government bonds and capital.

The objective of the representative agent j belonging to the generation born at time $s \leq 0$ is to maximize the following expected lifetime utility function:

$$E_{0} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} [\beta (1-\lambda)]^{t} U\left(C_{s,t}(j), \frac{M_{s,t}(j)}{P_{t}}, N_{s,t}(j)\right),$$
(1)

where $\beta \in (0, 1)$ is the subjective discount factor, P_t is the price index, $C_{s,t}(j)$ is consumption of the final good, $M_{s,t}(j)$ denote end-of-period money holdings, and $N_{s,t}(j)$ represents the agent's j labor, assumed to be supplied under monopolistic competition.

 $^{^7\}mathrm{The}$ implications of real money balances in a DSGE model with OLG are examined in Piergallini (2006).

Specifically, each individual j faces the following demand function for her labor services:⁸

$$N_{s,t}(j) = \left(\frac{W_{s,t}(j)}{W_t}\right)^{-\eta_t} N_t, \qquad (2)$$

where $\eta_t > 1$ is the elasticity of substitution between differentiated labor inputs, N_t is total employment, $W_{s,t}(j)$ is the individual nominal wage rate, and W_t indicates the aggregate wage index:

$$W_{t} = \left(\sum_{s=-\infty}^{t} \int_{0}^{\lambda(1-\lambda)^{t-s}} W_{s,t} (j)^{1-\eta_{t}} dj\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\eta_{t}}}.$$
(3)

The elasticity of labor demand, η_t , is the same across workers, but is allowed to be timevariant.

The flow budget constraint of the representative agent j born at time s is

$$\frac{B_{s,t+1}(j)}{R_t} + M_{s,t}(j) + Q_t K_{s,t+1}(j) \\
\leq \frac{1}{1-\lambda} \left(A_{s,t}(j) + W_{s,t}(j) N_{s,t}(j) + Z_{s,t}(j) - T_{s,t}(j) - P_t C_{s,t}(j) \right),$$
(4)

where $B_{s,t}(j)$ denote nominal riskless government bonds carried over from period t-1and paying one unit of numéraire in period t, R_t denotes the gross nominal interest rate on bonds purchased in period t, Q_t is the price of capital, $Z_{s,t}(j)$ is the share in the profits of intermediate goods firms, $T_{s,t}(j)$ denote nominal lump-sum net taxes, and $A_{s,t}(j)$ is the total beginning-of-period financial wealth given by

$$A_{s,t}(j) \equiv B_{s,t}(j) + M_{s,t-1}(j) + \left[(1-\delta) Q_t + R_t^k \right] K_{s,t}(j), \qquad (5)$$

where δ is the depreciation rate and R_t^k indicates the nominal rental cost of capital holdings, $K_{s,t}(j)$.⁹

⁸This demand function derives from the firms' optimizing behavior. See section 2.2.

⁹It should be noticed that the flow budget constraint incorporates the fair premium payment deriving from the insurance contract. The timing convention is consistent with the discrete time versions of the Yaari-Blanchard OLG model adopted by Frenkel and Razin (1986) and Smets and Wouters (2002).

The representative consumer j of the generation born at time $s \leq 0$ chooses the set $\{C_{s,0}(j), M_{s,0}(j), W_{s,0}(j), B_{s,1}(j), K_{s,1}(j)\}$ and the sequences of contingency plans $\{C_{s,t}(j), M_{s,t}(j), W_{s,t}(j), B_{s,t+1}(j), K_{s,t+1}(j)\}_{t=1}^{\infty}$ in order to maximize (1) subject to (2) and (4), given the initial wealth $A_{s,0}(j)$ and the stochastic sequences $\{Z_{s,t}(j), T_{s,t}(j), R_t, R_t^k, P_t, Q_t, W_t, N_t\}_{t=0}^{\infty}$, whose exogenously given probability distributions are known by the consumers. Profit shares and lump-sum net taxes are age-independent, while newly born agents do not hold any financial assets, for the sake of simplicity.

In order to obtain analytically tractable solutions for aggregate variables, we specialize on the following period utility function:

$$U\left(C_{s,t}\left(j\right),\frac{M_{s,t}\left(j\right)}{P_{t}},N_{s,t}\left(j\right)\right) \equiv \log\left[C_{s,t}\left(j\right)^{1-\gamma}\left(\frac{M_{s,t}\left(j\right)}{P_{t}}\right)^{\gamma} - V\left(N_{s,t}\left(j\right)\right)\right],\quad(6)$$

where $V'(\bullet), V''(\bullet) > 0$. Theoretical foundations that justify the adoption of this utility function in the perpetual-youth models with endogenous labor supply are developed by Ascari and Rankin (2006).¹⁰

The solution to the consumer dynamic optimization problem yields the following first order necessary conditions:

$$1 = \beta R_t E_t \left\{ \frac{\widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j)}{\widetilde{C}_{s,t+1}(j)} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \right\},\tag{7}$$

$$1 = \beta E_t \left\{ \frac{\widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j)}{\widetilde{C}_{s,t+1}(j)} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} \frac{(1-\delta) Q_{t+1} + R_{t+1}^k}{Q_t} \right\},$$
(8)

$$\frac{M_{s,t}\left(j\right)}{P_{t}} = \frac{\gamma}{\left(1-\gamma\right)\left(1-\lambda\right)} \frac{R_{t}}{R_{t}-1} C_{s,t}\left(j\right),\tag{9}$$

$$\frac{W_{s,t}(j)}{P_t} = \frac{1+u_t^w}{1-\gamma} \left(\frac{P_t C_{s,t}(j)}{M_{s,t}(j)}\right)^{\gamma} V'(N_{s,t}(j)),$$
(10)

where $\tilde{C}_{s,t}(j) \equiv C_{s,t}(j) - (P_t C_{s,t}(j) / M_{s,t}(j))^{\gamma} V(N_{s,t}(j))$ can be interpreted as consump-

¹⁰In particular, Ascari and Rankin (2006) demonstrate that this specification of preferences allows one to rule out a negative labor supply problem which may arise for older generations in models \dot{a} la Yaari-Blanchard with leisure in the utility function when leisure is a normal good.

tion net of its 'subsistence' level (see Ascari and Rankin, 2006); expressions (7) and (8) are the stochastic Euler equations, while (9) and (10) represent the efficiency static conditions on money demand and labor supply choices, respectively. The optimality condition for labor supply incorporates the exogenous optimal wage markup $u_t^w = 1/(\eta_t - 1)$, reflecting the agent's market power. Because wages are perfectly flexible, in the symmetric equilibrium all workers of all generations will set the same wage and supply the same hours of labor, i.e. $W_{s,t}(j) = W_t$ and $N_{s,t}(j) = N_t$ for all $j \in [0, 1]$.

Let define the stochastic discount factor of the representative agent j of generation s as

$$\Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) \equiv \beta \frac{\widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j)}{\widetilde{C}_{s,t+1}(j)} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}}.$$
(11)

Combining (11) with (7) one obtains

$$E_t \{ \Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) \} = \frac{1}{R_t},$$
(12)

for each $s \in (-\infty, t]$ and $j \in [0, 1]$. At the optimum the flow budget constraint (4) holds with equality in each time period and the transversality condition precluding Ponzi's games must be verified:

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} E_t \left\{ \left(1 - \lambda \right)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \left(s, j \right) A_{s,T} \left(j \right) \right\} = 0,$$
(13)

where $\Lambda_{t,T}(s,j) \equiv \prod_{k=T+1}^{T} \Lambda_{k-1,k}(s,j)$ and $\Lambda_{t,t}(s,j) \equiv 1$. Iterating the budget constraint (4) forward, using (12), and imposing the transversality condition (13), one can derive the individual consumption function as:¹¹

$$P_{t}\widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j) = \chi \left[A_{s,t}(j) + H_{s,t}(j) - \frac{1}{1-\gamma} E_{t} \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T}(s,j) \Psi_{s,T}(j)^{-\gamma} P_{T}V(N_{s,T}(j)) \right]$$
(14)

where $\chi \equiv (1 - \gamma) [1 - \beta (1 - \lambda)]$ is invariant both across time and across generations, ¹¹For details see Appendix A. $\Psi_{s,t}(j) \equiv M_{s,t}(j) / P_t C_{s,t}(j) = \{\gamma / [(1 - \gamma) (1 - \lambda)]\} [R_t / (R_t - 1)]$ is identical for all generations, and $H_{s,t}(j)$ is human wealth, defined as the expected present discounted value of future labor incomes and of profit shares net of taxes:

$$H_{s,t}(j) \equiv E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T}(s,j) \left(W_{s,T}(j) N_{s,T}(j) + Z_{s,T}(j) - T_{s,T}(j) \right).$$
(15)

2.1.2 Aggregation

The aggregate value X_t of a general economic variable $X_{s,t}(j)$ can be obtained as a sum across cohorts:

$$X_t \equiv \sum_{s=-\infty}^t \left(\int_0^{\lambda(1-\lambda)^{t-s}} X_{s,t}\left(j\right) dj \right).$$
(16)

Aggregation of all generations alive at time t yields the following expressions for aggregate non-human wealth, aggregate consumption, aggregate real money demand and aggregate labor supply, respectively:

$$\frac{B_{t+1}}{R_t} + M_t + Q_t K_{t+1} = A_t + W_t N_t + Z_t - T_t - P_t C_t,$$
(17)

$$P_t \widetilde{C}_t = \chi \left[A_t + H_t - \frac{1}{1 - \gamma} E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} \left(1 - \lambda \right)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Psi_T^{-\gamma} P_T V \left(N_T \right) \right], \tag{18}$$

$$\frac{M_t}{P_t} = \frac{\gamma}{1 - \gamma} \frac{R_t}{R_t - 1} C_t, \tag{19}$$

$$\frac{W_t}{P_t} = \frac{1 + u_t^w}{1 - \gamma} \Psi_t^{-\gamma} V'(N_t).$$
(20)

Combining equations (17) and (18) and using the definition of aggregate human wealth, $H_t(j) \equiv E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} (W_T N_T + Z_T - T_T)$, one obtains the following dynamic equation for aggregate consumption:¹²

$$P_t \widetilde{C}_t = \frac{1}{\beta} E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} P_{t+1} \widetilde{C}_{t+1} \right\} + \frac{\lambda \chi}{\beta \left(1 - \lambda\right)} E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} A_{t+1} \right\},$$
(21)

¹²See Appendix \overline{B} .

Equation (21) reveals that, in the general case of finite lifetime ($\lambda > 0$), the time path of consumption is affected by the aggregate level of non-human wealth.

2.2 Firms

2.2.1 Final Goods Firm

The final good representative firm faces a CES technology, $Y_t = \left(\int_0^1 X_t(i)^{\frac{\varepsilon-1}{\varepsilon}} di\right)^{\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}}$, where Y_t denotes aggregate output and $X_t(i)$ is the quantity of intermediate good produced by intermediate goods firm i. Intratemporal profit maximization, taking as given the final good price P_t and the prices of the intermediate goods $P_t(i)$, for all $i \in [0, 1]$, yields the demand for each variety i as a function of the relative price of i and of total production, $X_t(i) = (P_t(i)/P_t)^{-\varepsilon} Y_t$. In addition, the zero profit condition implies that the price index is $P_t = \left(\int_0^1 P_t(i)^{1-\varepsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$.

2.2.2 Intermediate Goods Firm

Each intermediate goods producer faces the following production function:

$$Y_t(i) = \mathcal{F}_t K_t(i)^{\alpha} N_t(i)^{1-\alpha}, \qquad (22)$$

where F_t is an exogenous technology parameter, and $K_t(i)$ and $N_t(i)$ represent the capital and labor services used by firm *i*, respectively. The labor input used by each producer is defined as a CES composite of individual consumer labor input:

$$N_t(i) = \left(\sum_{s=-\infty}^t \int_0^{\lambda(1-\lambda)^{t-s}} N_{s,t}(i,j)^{\frac{\eta_t-1}{\eta_t}} dj\right)^{\frac{\eta_t}{\eta_t-1}}.$$
 (23)

Aggregation across intermediate goods optimizing firms yields the labor market demand curve (2).

Following Calvo (1983), nominal price rigidity is modeled by allowing random intervals between price changes. Each period a firm adjusts its price with a constant probability



 $(1 - \theta)$ and keeps its price fixed with probability θ . The cost minimization condition requires that

$$\frac{K_t(i)}{N_t(i)} = \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{W_t}{R_t^k}.$$
(24)

Real marginal cost, MC_t , is given by

$$MC_t = \frac{\alpha^{-\alpha} \left(1 - \alpha\right)^{\alpha - 1}}{F_t} \left(\frac{R_t^k}{P_t}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{W_t}{P_t}\right)^{1 - \alpha},\tag{25}$$

thereby being identical across firms.

The optimal pricing decision of the firm i revising its price in period t is to choose the price $P_t(i)$ to maximize

$$E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} \theta^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} Y_T(i) \left(P_t(i) - P_T M C_T \right), \qquad (26)$$

subject to the sequence of demand constraints $\{Y_T(i) = X_T(i) = (P_t(i)/P_T)^{-\varepsilon} Y_T\}_{T=t}^{\infty}$. The first order condition for the optimal price is

$$E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} \theta^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} Y_T P_T^{\varepsilon} \left[P_t \left(i \right) - \left(1 + \mu^p \right) P_T M C_T \right] = 0, \tag{27}$$

where $\mu^p = 1/(\varepsilon - 1)$ is the equilibrium net markup. From condition (27) it emerges that firms set their price equal to a markup over a weighted average of expected future nominal marginal costs. Finally, the price index follows a law of motion of the form:

$$P_t = \left[\theta \left(P_{t-1}\right)^{1-\varepsilon} + (1-\theta) P_t \left(i\right)^{1-\varepsilon}\right]^{1/1-\varepsilon}.$$
(28)

2.2.3 Capital Producers

The representative capital producer employs investment (expressed in the same composite as the final good) and the existing capital stock to produce new capital goods, according to a standard CRS production function, $\phi(I_t/K_t) K_t$, where $\phi'(\bullet) > 0$, $\phi''(\bullet) \le 0$, $\phi'(\delta) = 1$, $\phi(\delta) = \delta$, capturing convex adjustment costs. Hence, the capital accumulation equation is given by

$$K_{t+1} = (1-\delta) K_t + \phi\left(\frac{I_t}{K_t}\right) K_t.$$
(29)

Profit maximization implies the following optimality condition:

$$Q_t \phi'\left(\frac{I_t}{K_t}\right) = P_t. \tag{30}$$

2.3 The Monetary Authority

The monetary authority controls the nominal interest rate, $r_t \equiv R_t - 1$. Monetary policy is assumed to be described in terms of a feedback rule where the instrument rate is set as an increasing function of the inflation rate. Specifically, the policy reaction function takes the following form:¹³

$$\widetilde{r}_t = \rho_r \widetilde{r}_{t-1} + (1 - \rho_r) \left(\phi_\pi \pi_t + \phi_Y \widehat{Y}_t \right) + \varepsilon_t^r,$$
(31)

where $\tilde{r}_t \equiv r_t - r$ denotes the deviation of the nominal interest rate from its steady state level, $\pi_t \equiv P_t/P_{t-1} - 1$ is the rate of inflation between t and t - 1, $\hat{Y}_t \equiv \log Y_t - \log Y$ is the log-deviation of output from its steady state level, $\phi_{\pi}, \phi_Y \geq 0$ are parameters capturing the responsiveness of monetary policy to inflation and output, $\rho_r \in (0, 1)$ is the parameter featuring a smoothing behavior of the central bank, and $\varepsilon_t^R \sim N\left(0, \sigma_{\varepsilon_t^r}^2\right)$ is an *i.i.d.* monetary disturbance.



¹³See, e.g., Clarida, Galí and Gertler (1998, 2000), Judd and Rudebusch (1998), Taylor (1999b), Gerlach and Schnabel (2000), Orphanides (2001, 2003), and Sauer and Sturm (2006) for empirical evidence on Taylor-type rules.

2.4 The Fiscal Authority

The flow budget constraint of the government in nominal terms is given by

$$\frac{B_{t+1}}{R_t} + M_t = B_t + M_{t-1} + P_t G_t - T_t,$$
(32)

where G_t denotes real government spending for final goods. The fiscal authority has three policy instruments: bonds, government spending, and net lump sum taxes, of which only two can be chosen freely and the remaining follows residually from the government's sequential budget constraint.

The budget constraint (32) can be written in real terms as

$$\frac{l_{t+1}}{R_t} = \frac{l_t}{1+\pi_t} + G_t - \tau_t - \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} m_t,$$
(33)

where $l_t \equiv (B_t + M_{t-1})/P_{t-1}$ denote total real government liabilities outstanding at the beginning of period t in units of t-1 final goods, $\tau_t \equiv T_t/P_t$ real tax collections, and $m_t \equiv M_t/P_t$ real money balances.

Our analysis focuses on two alternative fiscal policy rules: (i) a debt-based tax rule of the Leeper (1991)-style; (ii) a balanced-budget rule allowing for bounded deficits or surpluses, of the kind presented by Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2000). Both rules are extended to incorporate a cyclical component in the spirit of Taylor (1998, 2000).

2.4.1 Debt-based Tax Rule

Under a debt-based regime, fiscal policy is assumed to be conducted according to the following feedback tax rule:

$$\widehat{\tau}_t = \tau_l \widehat{l}_t + \tau_Y \widehat{Y}_t, \tag{34}$$

where $\hat{\tau}_t \equiv (\tau_t - \tau)/Y$ and $\hat{l}_t \equiv (l_t - l)/Y$ denote, respectively, the fluctuations of real taxes and government liabilities, both measured in units of steady-state output, and $\tau_l, \tau_Y \geq 0$ are fiscal policy parameters. Such a specification takes into account both a

debt stabilization motive (of the kind described by Leeper, 1991), capturing the structural component of fiscal policy, and an output stabilization motive, reflecting the cyclical component.¹⁴

2.4.2 Balanced-budget Rule

As an alternative fiscal regime we consider a balanced-budget rule allowing for bounded deficits or surpluses. As emphasized by Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2000), this fiscal rule is arguably more realistic than a period-by period balanced budget requirement. In addition, it is in the spirit of the Maastricht Treaty and the Stability and Growth Pact, which require country specific medium term objectives which range from a 1% deficit to a close to balance or in surplus position, guaranteeing a sufficient margin below the reference value of 3% of GDP for the general government deficit.

The nominal fiscal deficit, D_t , is defined as government expenditures and interest payments on the outstanding public debt net of tax revenues:

$$D_t \equiv P_t G_t + (R_{t-1} - 1) \frac{B_t}{R_{t-1}} - T_t.$$
(35)

Using (35) into the government's flow budget constraint (32) yields

$$\frac{B_{t+1}}{R_t} + M_t = \frac{B_t}{R_{t-1}} + M_{t-1} + D_t.$$
(36)

We assume that fiscal policy is described in terms of a feedback rule in the real deficit, incorporating both an output stabilization motive and a smoothing component.¹⁵ In particular, the fiscal rule we consider takes the following form:

$$d_t = \rho_d d_{t-1} + (1 - \rho_d) \,\delta_Y \widehat{Y}_t + \varepsilon_t^d, \tag{37}$$



¹⁴The so-called 'Taylor fiscal rules', featuring both 'active' and 'passive' components, are the object of recent empirical contributions. See, for instance, Galí and Perotti (2003), and Favero and Monacelli (2003, 2005).

¹⁵Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2000) instead assume exogenous 'secondary' deficits, without inertia.

where $d_t \equiv (D_t/P_t)/Y$ indicates the real deficit, measured in units of steady-state output, $\delta_Y \leq 0$ is a fiscal policy parameter, $\rho_d \in (0, 1)$ is a parameter measuring the persistence of budget deficit dynamics shown in the data, and $\varepsilon_t^d \sim N\left(0, \sigma_{\varepsilon^d}^2\right)$ is an *i.i.d.* fiscal policy shock.

2.5 Market Clearing

Factor and good markets must be in equilibrium, so that the following equalities hold at all times: $N_t = \int_0^1 N_t(i) \, di$, $K_t = \int_0^1 K_t(i) \, di$, $Y_t(i) = X_t(i)$, for all $i \in [0, 1]$, and

$$Y_t = C_t + I_t + G_t. aga{38}$$

3 Calibration

The implications of the foregoing framework are examined by computing a log-linearized version of the equilibrium conditions around a non-stochastic steady state with zero in-flation.¹⁶ The log-linearized model is solved in its state-space representation by applying the Klein (2000) algorithm.¹⁷ We parameterize the model on euro area quarterly data for the period 1970Q1-2003Q4.¹⁸ The baseline calibration is reported in Table 1.

The shares of steady-state consumption and private investment in total output are set consistently with their observed sample averages, 0.2. We set the annual steady state public debt to GDP ratio at 60%, according to the Maastricht criterion. The observed annual money velocity is 3.7, using the monetary aggregate M1. We set the steady state real interest rate equal to 4% per annum, as in Smets and Wouters (2003). We assign a value of 0.015 to the probability of death between two consecutive periods, as in Leith and Wren-Lewis (2000).

¹⁶See Appendix C for details.

¹⁷See Appendix D.

 $^{^{18}{\}rm The}$ data are obtained from the latest version of the database constructed by Fagan, Henry and Mestre (2005).

The function characterizing the agents' dis-utility of labor is assumed to be

$$V(N_t) \equiv \frac{N_t^{1+\varphi}}{1+\varphi},\tag{39}$$

where $\varphi > 0$ represents the inverse of the (Frisch) elasticity of labor supply with respect to the real wage. We set φ equal to 0.47, as in Benigno and Benigno (2003). Furthermore, we calibrate the steady state fraction of time in employment to be 1/3, according to the standard eight-hours working day.

The probability of maintaining prices fixed between two consecutive quarters for firms subject to nominal rigidities is set equal to 0.75, that is consistent with the estimates obtained by Galí, Gertler and López-Salido (2001) for the euro area. Following Smets and Wouters (2003), we set the annual depreciation rate, δ , equal to 10% per annum and the elasticity of output with respect to capital, α , equal to 0.3. Following King and Watson (1996), the elasticity of investment with respect to asset prices, η , is set equal to unity. Values of all remaining parameters are set according to the steady state relations and are reported in Table 1.

We assume that government expenditure follows a univariate autoregressive process given by

$$\widehat{G}_t = \rho_G \widehat{G}_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t^G, \tag{40}$$

where $\hat{G}_t \equiv \frac{G_t - G}{Y}$. The estimated first-order autocorrelation and the standard deviation of the innovation are $\rho_G = 0.966$ and $\sigma_{\varepsilon^G} = 0.001$, respectively. The technology shock is also assumed to follow a univariate autoregressive process,

$$\widehat{F}_t = \rho_F \widehat{F}_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t^F, \tag{41}$$

where $\hat{F}_t \equiv \log F_t - \log F$. We fit the stochastic process (41) empirically using the standard Solow residual and obtain $\rho_F = 0.958$ and $\sigma_{\varepsilon F} = 0.005$. Following Smets and Wouters (2003), the wage markup is assumed to be a white noise. We set the

standard deviations of the wage markup and the monetary policy shocks equal to Smets and Wouters' estimates, $\sigma_{u^w} = 0.003$ and $\sigma_{\varepsilon^r} = 0.001$. Finally, the baseline calibration of equations (31) and (37) sets ρ^r , $\rho^d = 0.9$, consistently with a realistic high degree of inertia displayed by monetary and fiscal rules.

4 Fiscal Policy and Equilibrium Dynamics

The main feature of the model is that it exhibits wealth effects on aggregate demand that make the LM relation and the dynamics for both government liabilities and asset prices not recursive to the equilibrium system.¹⁹ This generates a non-trivial interaction between monetary and fiscal policy. On the one hand, fiscal policy affects the evolution of aggregate demand since public debt is net wealth for the living generations, thereby influencing inflation dynamics. On the other hand, monetary policy affects debt service through its decisions on the nominal interest rate, hence modifying the dynamics of government liabilities.

For each fiscal rule, we first investigate the issue of rational expectations equilibrium determinacy in order to identify the range of policy parameters ruling out sunspots and instabilities;²⁰ then we examine impulse response functions to fiscal shocks.

4.1 Debt-based Tax Rule

Following Woodford (1998, 2001, 2003), fiscal policy is 'passive' (or 'locally Ricardian') if and only if the dynamics of real government liabilities implied by the tax rule are bounded for any bounded processes for the other endogenous variables and for the exogenous disturbances. According to this definition, the tax rule (34) is passive (active) if and only

¹⁹By contrast, in the standard representative agent setup, real financial wealth does not affect consumption dynamics and monetary policy influences consumption only through the effects produced on the current and future short-term real interest rates.

²⁰A rational expectations equilibrium is (locally) determined if and only if there are unique bounded sequences for all endogenous variables of the model in periods $t \ge 0$, given the bounded exogenous disturbances processes. See Woodford (2003).

if $|(1 + r)(1 - \tau_l)| < (>) 1.^{21}$ As in Woodford (2003), we focus on rules in which $\tau_l \leq 1$. Thus, our calibration implies that for a passive (active) fiscal policy τ_l must be larger (smaller) than 0.01.

Figure 1 shows the regions of determinacy of equilibrium under the tax rule for different combinations of fiscal and monetary policy parameters. Panel A reveals that a passive fiscal policy regime is compatible with equilibrium determinacy when combined with a sufficiently active monetary policy. On the other hand, an active fiscal policy requires a more accommodating monetary policy. As it emerges from panel B, when fiscal policy is passive, the Taylor principle, according to which the long-run response of the nominal interest rate to increases in inflation should be more than one-to-one ($\phi_{\pi} > 1$), might not be sufficient to achieve equilibrium uniqueness. Indeterminacy is likely to prevail under a high responsiveness of monetary policy to the fluctuations in output.

In panels C and D we plot determinacy regions in the space of the fiscal policy parameters (τ_l, τ_Y) under an active and a passive monetary policy conduct, respectively. When monetary policy is active, the more countercyclical the fiscal policy is (high values of τ_Y), the higher the reactivity of taxes to government liabilities must be (high values of τ_l) in order to ensure equilibrium determinacy. By contrast, under a passive monetary policy equilibrium uniqueness is more likely to be verified under a countercyclical fiscal policy and a low reactivity of the fiscal burden to government liabilities.

Figure 2 shows the responses of the main variables of the model to a positive unit shock in government spending under two alternative fiscal-monetary policy regimes. As in Woodford (2003), the size of the fiscal shock is normalized to a one percent of steady-state output.

The first regime we investigate (Figure 2(A)) is characterized by a passive fiscal policy combined with an active monetary policy. In particular, we assume $\tau_l = 0.1$, $\tau_Y = 0.5$, $\phi_{\pi} = 1.5$, $\phi_Y = 0.125$ (the values of a standard Taylor rule). One of the main predictions of the analysis is that the output dynamics display an intertemporal trade-off: the fiscal

²¹For details see Appendix E.

expansion boosts economic activity in the short run but generates a persistent negative effect in the medium run, due to the crowding-out in both private consumption and private investment. These are negatively affected by the reduction in human wealth (due to higher future tax burden), higher interest rates and depressed asset prices. Moreover, government liabilities increase by a sizable amount and remain persistently above the steady state. At the same time the government budget displays persistent high deficits, while taxes remain for several periods above their long-term equilibrium in order to preserve fiscal sustainability. It should be noted that the presence of wealth effects influences the dynamic response of the economy to an increase in government spending, since currently alive individuals share the burden of taxation with yet unborn generations. As a result the negative impact effects on consumption tends to be lower than in a set-up with infinite horizon.²²

In the second policy regime (Figure 2(B)), we study, instead, the case of an active fiscal rule coupled with with a passive interest rate rule. Specifically, we set $\tau_l = 0$, $\tau_Y = 0.5$, $\phi_{\pi} = \phi_Y = 0$ (implying a pegged interest rate). We see that when the tax rule does not ensure a convergent pattern for real government liabilities for any bounded sequence of the other endogenous variables, a government spending shock causes output, consumption, investment, capital and asset prices to increase persistently above their steady state values. These expansionary effects are sustained by both the passive behavior of monetary policy, implying cumulative decreases in the real interest rate, and the wealth effects on aggregate demand, that are amplified by the 'non-Ricardian' fiscal policy. As a result, in equilibrium, the inflationary effects necessary to prevent an explosive dynamics for real government liabilities are about five times larger than in the previous fiscal-monetary regime.

 $^{^{22}}$ By contrast, in the presence of rule-of-thumb consumers, under a passive debt-based tax rule, an increase in government spending is likely to lead to a rise in aggregate private consumption. See Galí, López-Salido and Vallés (2003).

4.2 Balanced-budget Rule

The evolution of real government liabilities under a balanced-budget rule allowing for temporary fiscal deficits of the type described by (37) exhibits a unit root.²³ Therefore a balanced-budget rule cannot be strictly classified according to the active/passive dichotomy in Woodford's (2003) sense and deserves a separate analysis.²⁴

Figure 3 shows that in our framework with wealth effects this particular fiscal regime is compatible with a larger class of interest rate rules of Taylor's type by enlarging the parameter space under which determinacy is guaranteed (see panel B)²⁵, unless fiscal policy is too much countercyclical (see panel A). In particular, under passive monetary policies, where the nominal interest rate responds less than proportionally to inflation changes, or under interest rate pegging rules, the system is not characterized by sunspot fluctuations or instabilities as in the standard infinite horizon framework. Under balancedbudget requirements, intergenerational wealth effects work as 'automatic stabilizers', not forcing necessarily the central bank to implement aggressive interest rate rules. Hence, an interesting advantage of our set-up is that it enables one to study the impact of fiscal policy shock under a wider range of monetary policy rules.

Figure 4 plots the impulse response functions to a unit shock to government spending under both active ($\phi_{\pi} > 1$) and passive ($\phi_{\pi} < 1$) interest rate rules, respectively. Analysing the impulse responses under the alternative monetary policy rules, it emerges that the responses of the variables to the shocks are critically affected by the conduct of monetary policy. Specifically, under an active monetary policy (Figure 4(A)), assuming $\phi_{\pi} = 1.5$, $\phi_{Y} = 0.125$ and $\delta_{Y} = -0.5$, the dynamics are similar to those obtained in the case of a passive tax rule. Output increases on impact, but declines thereafter below the long run equilibrium, returning very slowly to the steady state. Inflation increases on im-



 $^{^{23}}$ See equation (A.32) in Appendix C.

²⁴Broadly speaking, as emphasized by Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2000), the balanced-budget rule could be considered 'passive' in Leeper (1991)'s sense, since it implies that taxes are an increasing function of the stock of public debt.

 $^{^{25}}$ An analytical proof of this result has been derived by Annicchiarico and Piergallini (2006) in a simplified DSGE framework with no capital accumulation and real money balances.

pact while consumption, capital, investment and asset prices initially decrease and slowly converge back to the steady state. However, looking at the magnitude, one can notice that the jump in inflation and the decrease of the other variables are less pronounced than those obtained under the tax rule. Moreover, the balanced-budget is preserved, given the strong response of taxes to the government spending shock implied by the fiscal regime. Conversely, when the monetary rule is passive (Figure 4(B)), assuming $\phi_{\pi} = 0.5$, $\phi_Y = 0.125$ and $\delta_Y = -0.5$, the patterns are distinctly different. It is possible to notice an increase on impact on output, capital, investment, consumption and asset prices, given the accommodative behavior of the monetary authority.²⁶ However, the cost to be paid is represented by the increase in inflation which on impact is almost the double than in the active monetary policy case.

In the case of balanced-budget rules, it is also of interest to analyse the effects of a tax shock, represented by an exogenous disturbance to the rule assuming a fixed and exogenous government expenditure. Figure 5 illustrates the effects of a unit tax cut under active and passive monetary policies, respectively. While the results are similar to the case of the government spending shock, it is worth pointing out that a tax cut affects all variables. In the general framework adopted in this paper Ricardian equivalence does not hold and the time profile of taxes influences the distribution of wealth across generations. By contrast, in an infinite horizon model where the Ricardian equivalence prevails, tax cuts would not have any real effects.

5 Stochastic Simulations

In this Section we explore the performance of alternative fiscal rules or different combinations of monetary and fiscal rules by using Montecarlo experiments. We draw from a random generator a finite set of innovation sequences $(\varepsilon_t^G, \varepsilon_t^r, \varepsilon_t^F, \varepsilon_t^{u^w})$ for a sample period of 200 quarters. All values reported in Tables 2-4 represent mean values of the standard

²⁶This theoretical result is compatible with the empirical findings of Blanchard and Perotti (2002), showing an increase in private consumption in response to a positive government spending shock.

deviations of inflation, output, the nominal interest rate and asset prices over 1000 replications of the simulation experiment. The magnitudes shown in the Tables are expressed in percentage points.

The first simulation exercise reported in Table 2 investigates the performance of monetary and fiscal policies under feedback tax rules ensuring the convergence of government liabilities dynamics for any bounded paths for the remaining endogenous variables. The results indicate that higher values for the monetary policy inflation coefficient ϕ_{π} lead to lower standard deviations for the inflation rate. Moreover, it is shown that an interest rate rule featuring a response to output entails in most cases a higher variability in all variables of interest. This conclusion reinforces the results developed by McCallum (2001), and Schmitt-Grohé and Uribe (2004).

Table 3 reports simulation results under the assumption that fiscal policy is conducted according to an active tax rule. The results suggest that when the stability of government liabilities is not guaranteed by fiscal authorities, an interest rate peg rule is predicted to perform better, in terms of inflation stabilization, than feedback interest rate rules \dot{a} la Taylor. Intuitively, a feedback monetary rule reacting to inflation dramatically worsens the dynamics of government liabilities when budgetary policies are potentially unsustainable, thereby pinning down a higher inflation rate necessary to reduce the real value of public debt. Hence, the well-known revaluation mechanism depicted by the 'fiscal theory of the price level' is fully at work. In addition, large values for τ_Y , capturing the response of the tax rule to output, entail excessive variability.

Table 4 summarizes simulation results under balanced-budget requirements. As emphasized in the previous sections, in our OLG framework this fiscal regime permits to compare the performance of both active and passive monetary policies, since the prospects for determinacy of rational expectations equilibrium are enlarged. Active interest rate rules that do not feature an output stabilization motive imply a lower variability for inflation, but they are likely to entail a higher variability for both output and asset prices. Furthermore, the results support the view that strong responses of fiscal policy to output might be undesirable.

6 Conclusions

In this paper we have developed a dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model with price stickiness and capital accumulation, extended to include overlapping generations. An important feature of our economy with finitely-lived individuals is that the dynamics for government liabilities and asset prices as well as the LM relation significantly affect the monetary and fiscal policy transmission mechanisms, because wealth effects do influence aggregate consumption dynamics.

The general framework presented in the paper is flexible enough for analyzing the effects of different fiscal policy rules (and their interaction with monetary policy) in terms of macroeconomic stability and price developments. The analysis of the performance of debt-based tax rules and balanced-budget rules allowing for temporary deficits shows that the positive effect on economic activity generated by fiscal expansions is likely to be significantly reversed in the medium run.

Another interesting insight of our set-up is that the balanced-budget rule is able to enlarge the determinacy space under feedback interest rate rules. This allows the evaluation of the effects of fiscal policy under both active and passive monetary policies. In this respect, we have shown that the dynamics generated by fiscal shocks are critically influenced by the monetary policy regime. On the one hand, fiscal policies aimed at balancing the budget are compatible with passive monetary policies; on the other hand, active monetary policies in conjunction with a balanced budget rule deliver a high degree of price stability (at the expense of output volatility).

Modeling the demand-side of the economy through an overlapping generations structure allowed us to analyze not only the effect of government spending shocks but also tax cut shocks, thereby increasing the number of potential policy experiments one can perform using the model derived in the paper.

Finally, an important implication of the results found is that controlling for monetary policy might be essential for an empirical characterization of the effects of fiscal shocks. In other words, results of the empirical literature on the effect of fiscal policies on macroeconomic variables could have been negatively influenced by the exclusion of the interaction between monetary and fiscal policies.

Appendixes

Appendix A: Individual Consumption

Combining (12) with (8) we obtain:

$$E_t \{\Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) R_t\} = E_t \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) \frac{(1-\delta) Q_{t+1} + R_{t+1}^k}{Q_t}\right\} = 1.$$
(A.1)

Using (A.1) we can write:

$$\frac{B_{s,t+1}(j)}{R_t} + M_{s,t}(j) + Q_t K_{s,t+1}(j)
= E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) \left[B_{s,t+1}(j) + M_{s,t}(j) + R_t Q_t K_{s,t+1}(j) \right] \right\} + \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} M_{s,t}(j)
= E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) \left[B_{s,t+1}(j) + M_{s,t}(j) + \left(Q_{t+1}(1-\delta) + R_{t+1}^k \right) K_{s,t+1}(j) \right] \right\}
+ \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} M_{s,t}(j).$$
(A.2)

Thus, the individual flow budget constraint can be written as

$$P_{t}C_{s,t}(j) + (1-\lambda) \frac{R_{t}-1}{R_{t}} M_{s,t}(j) + (1-\lambda) E_{t} \{\Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) A_{s,t+1}(j)\}$$

$$\leq A_{s,t}(j) + W_{s,t}(j) N_{s,t}(j) + Z_{s,t}(j) - T_{s,t}(j),$$
(A.3)

where

$$A_{s,t}(j) \equiv B_{s,t}(j) + M_{s,t-1}(j) + \left[Q_t(1-\delta) + R_t^k\right] K_{s,t}(j)$$
(A.4)



Note that

$$C_{s,t}(j) + (1 - \lambda) \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} \frac{M_{s,t}(j)}{P_t}$$

= $\frac{1}{1 - \gamma} C_{s,t}(j)$ (A.5)
= $\frac{1}{1 - \gamma} \widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j) + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma} \left(\frac{P_t C_{s,t}(j)}{M_{s,t}(j)}\right)^{\gamma} V(N_{s,t}(j))$

Thus, the flow budget constraint can be re-written as

$$\frac{1}{1-\gamma} P_t \widetilde{C}_{s,t}(j) + (1-\lambda) E_t \{\Lambda_{t,t+1}(s,j) A_{s,t+1}(j)\}$$

$$\leq A_{s,t}(j) + W_{s,t}(j) N_{s,t}(j) + Z_{s,t}(j) - T_{s,t}(j)$$

$$- \frac{1}{1-\gamma} \left(\frac{P_t C_{s,t}(j)}{M_{s,t}(j)}\right)^{\gamma} P_t V(N_{s,t}(j)).$$
(A.6)

From (A.6), imposing the transversality condition we obtain the intertemporal budget constraint:

$$\frac{1}{1-\gamma}E_{t}\sum_{T=t}^{\infty}(1-\lambda)^{T-t}\Lambda_{t,T}(s,j)P_{T}\widetilde{C}_{s,T}(j) \\
\leq A_{s,t}(j) + E_{t}\sum_{T=t}^{\infty}(1-\lambda)^{T-t}\Lambda_{t,T}(s,j)(W_{s,T}(j)N_{s,T}(j) + Z_{s,T}(j) - T_{s,T}(j)) \\
- \frac{1}{1-\gamma}E_{t}\sum_{T=t}^{\infty}(1-\lambda)^{T-t}\Lambda_{t,T}(s,j)\left(\frac{P_{T}C_{s,T}(j)}{M_{s,T}(j)}\right)^{\gamma}P_{T}V(N_{s,T}(j))].$$
(A.7)

Using the fact that

$$E_t\left\{\Lambda_{t,T}\left(s,j\right)P_T\widetilde{C}_{s,T}\left(j\right)\right\} = \beta^{T-t}P_t\widetilde{C}_{s,t}\left(j\right),\tag{A.8}$$

into equation (A.7) (which in the optimum holds with equality), one obtains equation (14) in the main text.

Appendix B: The Dynamic Equation for Aggregate Consumption

Using (12) we can write:

$$\frac{B_{t+1}}{R_t} + M_t + Q_t K_{t+1}$$

$$= E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} \left[B_{t+1} + M_t + \left(Q_{t+1} \left(1 - \delta \right) + R_{t+1}^k \right) K_{t+1} \right] \right\} + \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} M_t.$$
(A.9)

Thus, the aggregate budget constraint can also be written as:

$$E_t \{\Lambda_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}\} + P_t C_t + \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} M_t = A_t + W_t N_t + Z_t - T_t,$$
(A.10)

where A_t denotes aggregate non-human wealth at the beginning of period t, defined as:

$$A_{t} \equiv B_{t} + M_{t-1} + \left(Q_{t} \left(1 - \delta\right) + R_{t}^{k}\right) K_{t}.$$
 (A.11)

Note that

$$P_t C_t + \frac{R_t - 1}{R_t} M_t = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma} P_t C_t.$$
 (A.12)

Substituting (A.10) into (18) and using (A.12) one obtains:

$$P_t \widetilde{C}_t = \chi \left[\begin{array}{c} E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} A_{t+1} \right\} + \frac{1}{1-\gamma} P_t C_t + E_t \sum_{T=t+1}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Omega_T \\ -\frac{1}{1-\gamma} E_t \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Psi_T^{\gamma} P_T V \left(N_T\right) \end{array} \right], \quad (A.13)$$

where $\Omega_t = W_t N_t + Z_t - T_t$. Leading (18) one period forward yields:

$$P_{t+1}\widetilde{C}_{t+1} = \chi \begin{bmatrix} A_{t+1} + E_{t+1} \sum_{T=t+1}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-(t+1)} \Lambda_{t+1,T} \Omega_T \\ -\frac{1}{1-\gamma} E_{t+1} \sum_{T=t}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-(t+1)} \Lambda_{t+1,T} \Psi_T^{\gamma} P_T V(N_T) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (A.14)

Multiplying both sides by $\Lambda_{t,t+1}(1-\lambda)$ and taking expectations:

$$(1 - \lambda) E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} P_{t+1} \widetilde{C}_{t+1} \right\}$$

$$= \chi \left[\begin{array}{c} (1 - \lambda) E_t \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+1} A_{t+1} \right\} + E_t \sum_{T=t+1}^{\infty} (1 - \lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Omega_T \\ -\frac{1}{1 - \gamma} E_t \sum_{T=t+1}^{\infty} (1 - \lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Psi_T^{\gamma} P_T V (N_T) \end{array} \right].$$
(A.15)



Solving (A.15) for $E_t \sum_{T=t+1}^{\infty} (1-\lambda)^{T-t} \Lambda_{t,T} \Omega_T$, using the fact that $\chi \equiv (1-\gamma) [1-\beta (1-\lambda)]$, and substituting into (A.13), one obtains:

$$P_{t}\widetilde{C}_{t} = (1 - \gamma) \left[1 - \beta \left(1 - \lambda\right)\right] \begin{bmatrix} E_{t} \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}\right\} - (1 - \lambda) E_{t} \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}\right\} \\ + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma} P_{t} \left(C_{t} - \Psi_{t}^{\gamma}V\left(N_{t}\right)\right) \\ + (1 - \lambda) E_{t} \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}P_{t+1}\widetilde{C}_{t+1}\right\}.$$
(A.16)

Simplifying, (A.16) becomes:

$$P_{t}\widetilde{C}_{t} = (1 - \gamma) \left[1 - \beta \left(1 - \lambda\right)\right] \left[\lambda E_{t} \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}\right\} + \frac{1}{1 - \gamma} P_{t}\widetilde{C}_{t}\right] + (1 - \lambda) E_{t} \left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}P_{t+1}\widetilde{C}_{t+1}\right\}$$
(A.17)

Rearranging (A.17), we obtain the dynamic equation for aggregate adjusted consumption,

$$P_{t}\widetilde{C}_{t} = \frac{1}{\beta}E_{t}\left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}P_{t+1}\widetilde{C}_{t+1}\right\} + \frac{\lambda\left(1-\gamma\right)\left[1-\beta\left(1-\lambda\right)\right]}{\beta\left(1-\lambda\right)}E_{t}\left\{\Lambda_{t,t+1}A_{t+1}\right\},\qquad(A.18)$$

which is equation (21) in the main text.

Appendix C: Linearized Equilibrium Conditions

This Appendix performs a first-order log-linear approximation of the global system around a non-stochastic steady state characterized by zero inflation and positive public debt. In general, we let $\hat{X}_t \equiv \log X_t - \log X$ be the log-deviation of a given economic variable X_t from its steady state value X.

On the demand-side, the log-linear version of the dynamic equation for aggregate adjusted consumption (21) is given by

$$\widehat{\widetilde{C}}_{t} = -\left(\widetilde{r}_{t} - \frac{1}{1+\omega}E_{t}\left\{\pi_{t+1}\right\}\right) + \frac{1}{1+\omega}E_{t}\left\{\widehat{\widetilde{C}}_{t+1}\right\} + \frac{\omega}{1+\omega}\widehat{a}_{t+1},\tag{A.19}$$

where $a_t \equiv \frac{A_t}{P_{t-1}}$ and $\omega \equiv \beta R - 1 = \frac{\lambda \chi}{(1-\lambda)} \frac{a}{\tilde{C}}$. The aggregate real financial wealth approxi-

mates to

$$\hat{a}_{t+1} \equiv s_a^{-1} \hat{l}_{t+1} + R s_a^{-1} s_K \left(\tilde{r}_t + \hat{q}_t + \hat{K}_{t+1} \right), \tag{A.20}$$

where $q_t \equiv \frac{Q_t}{P_t}$, $s_a \equiv \frac{a}{Y}$, $s_K \equiv \frac{K}{Y} = \frac{\left(\frac{I}{Y}\right)}{\delta} = \frac{\alpha}{(r+\delta)(1+u^p)}$. Aggregate adjusted consumption approximates to

$$\widehat{\widetilde{C}}_t \equiv \frac{C}{\widetilde{C}}\widehat{C}_t - \frac{\gamma}{r}\left(\frac{C}{\widetilde{C}} - 1\right)\widetilde{r}_t - (1+\varphi)\left(\frac{C}{\widetilde{C}} - 1\right)\widehat{N}_t,\tag{A.21}$$

where $\varphi \equiv V''(N) \frac{N}{V'(N)}$ is the inverse of the Frisch elasticity of labor supply, $\frac{C}{\tilde{C}} \equiv \frac{C}{C - \Psi^{-\gamma} \frac{N^{1+\varphi}}{1+\varphi}} = \frac{1}{1 - \Psi^{-\gamma} \left(\frac{N}{Y}\right) \left(\frac{Y}{C}\right) \frac{N^{\varphi}}{1+\varphi}}$, and $\frac{N}{Y} = \frac{(1-\alpha) \left(\frac{1}{1+u^{w}}\right)}{\frac{1+u^{w}}{1-\gamma} \Psi^{-\gamma} N^{\varphi}}$. The equation describing asset prices dynamics can be derived as

$$\widehat{q}_{t} = \frac{1}{R} (1 - \delta) E_{t} \left\{ \widehat{q}_{t+1} \right\} + \left[1 - \frac{1}{R} (1 - \delta) \right] E_{t} \left\{ \widetilde{r}_{t+1}^{k} - \widehat{P}_{t+1} \right\} - \left(\widetilde{r}_{t} - E_{t} \left\{ \pi_{t+1} \right\} \right), \quad (A.22)$$

where $r_t^k \equiv R_t^k - 1$ and $\tilde{r}_t^k \equiv r_t^k - r^k$. The log-linearized equation for investment demand is

$$\widehat{I}_t - \widehat{K}_t = \eta \widehat{q}_t, \tag{A.23}$$

where $\eta \equiv -\phi''\left(\frac{I}{K}\right) \frac{\phi'\left(\frac{I}{K}\right)}{\frac{I}{K}}$. From (19), one can derive the LM relation as

$$\widehat{m}_t = \widehat{C}_t - \frac{1}{R-1}\widetilde{r}_t. \tag{A.24}$$

The labor supply equation (20) can be expressed as

$$\widehat{w}_t = \varphi \widehat{N}_t + \frac{\gamma}{R-1} \widetilde{r}_t + u_t^w, \qquad (A.25)$$

where $w_t \equiv \frac{W_t}{P_t}$.



On the supply-side, the log-linear approximations to the optimal price setting equation (27) and the definition of price index (28) yield

$$\pi_t = \frac{1}{R} E_t \left\{ \pi_{t+1} \right\} + \kappa \widehat{MC}_t, \tag{A.26}$$

where $\kappa \equiv \frac{(1-\theta)(R-\theta)}{R\theta}$, and

$$\widehat{MC}_{t} = \left(\widehat{W}_{t} - \widehat{P}_{t}\right) - \left(\widehat{Y}_{t} - \widehat{N}_{t}\right) = \left(\widetilde{r}_{t}^{k} - \widehat{P}_{t}\right) - \left(\widehat{Y}_{t} - \widehat{K}_{t}\right).$$
(A.27)

In addition, the aggregate production function can be approximated as

$$\widehat{Y}_t = \widehat{F}_t + \alpha \widehat{K}_t + (1 - \alpha) \,\widehat{N}_t. \tag{A.28}$$

The law of motion of capital (29) becomes

$$\widehat{K}_{t+1} = \delta \widehat{I}_t + (1-\delta) \,\widehat{K}_t. \tag{A.29}$$

Market clearing in the goods' market implies

$$\widehat{Y}_t = s_C \widehat{C}_t + s_I \widehat{I}_t + \widehat{G}_t, \tag{A.30}$$

where $s_C \equiv \frac{C}{Y}$, $s_I \equiv \frac{I}{Y}$, and $\hat{G}_t \equiv \frac{G_t - G}{Y}$.

On the public sector-side, the log-linear version of the evolution of government liabilities (33) is given by

$$\widehat{l}_{t+1} = R\left(\widehat{l}_t - \frac{d}{Y}\pi_t + \widehat{G}_t - \widehat{\tau}_t\right) + s_b\widetilde{r}_t - (R-1)s_m\widehat{m}_t,$$
(A.31)

where $s_b \equiv \frac{B}{PY}$ and $s_m \equiv \frac{m}{Y}$.

Under the balanced-budget rule, equation (36) can be approximated as

$$\widehat{l}_{t+1} = \widehat{l}_t + s_b \left(\widetilde{r}_t - \widetilde{r}_{t-1} - \pi_t\right) - rs_m \left(\widehat{m}_t - \widehat{m}_{t-1}\right) - Rs_m \pi_t + Rd_t.$$
(A.32)

Appendix D: Model Solution

The log-linearized model can be written in matrix form as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ n_F \times n_F & n_F \times n_S \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \\ n_S \times n_F & n_S \times n_S \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_t \overline{F}_{t+1} \\ n_F \times 1 \\ E_t \overline{S}_{t+1} \\ n_S \times 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} & B_{12} \\ n_F \times n_F & n_F \times n_S \\ B_{21} & B_{22} \\ n_S \times n_F & n_S \times n_S \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \overline{F}_t \\ n_F \times 1 \\ \overline{S}_t \\ n_S \times 1 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} C_1 \\ n_S \times n_E \\ C_2 \\ n_S \times n_E \end{bmatrix} \overline{E}_t,$$

where

 n_F : number of non-predetermined variables;

 n_S : number of predetermined variables;

 n_F : number of exogenous stochastic processes;

 $\overline{F}_{t} = \left[\widehat{Y}_{t} \mid \widehat{C}_{t} \mid \widehat{I}_{t} \mid \widehat{\widetilde{C}}_{t} \mid \widehat{N}_{t} \mid \widehat{q}_{t} \mid \widetilde{r}_{t} \mid \widetilde{r}_{t}^{k} \mid \widehat{w}_{t} \mid \widehat{MC}_{t} \mid \widehat{\tau}_{t}\right]' \text{ contains the forward looking variables;}$

 $\overline{S}_{t} = \left[\widetilde{r}_{t-1} \mid \widehat{\tau}_{t-1} \mid \widehat{l}_{t} \mid \widehat{m}_{t-1} \mid \widehat{K}_{t}\right]' \text{ is the vector of predetermined variables;}$

 $\overline{E}_t = \left[\widehat{G}_t \mid \widehat{F}_t \mid u_t^w \mid \varepsilon_t^r \mid \varepsilon_t^d\right]' \text{ is the vector of exogenously given stochastic processes evolving according to } \overline{E}_t = \Sigma \overline{E}_{t-1} + \overline{\varepsilon}_t, \text{ with } \overline{\varepsilon}_t = \left[\varepsilon_t^G \mid \varepsilon_t^F \mid u_t^w \mid \varepsilon_t^r \mid \varepsilon_t^d\right]' \text{ defined as the vector of white noises and } \Sigma \text{ being the } n_E \times n_E \text{ diagonal matrix reporting the autoregressive coefficients of the exogenous variables. The relevant matrices of the system depend on the fiscal rule adopted by the government.}$

The multivariate linear rational expectations model can be solved by applying the algorithm proposed by Klein (2000), which is based on the generalized Schur decomposition. We have applied Klein's algorithm to solve the model under the alternative fiscal rules defined in the main text.

Appendix E: 'Active' and 'Passive' Fiscal Policy

After substituting the tax rule (34) into (A.31), government liabilities evolve as

$$\widehat{l}_{t+1} = R\left[(1-\tau_l) \,\widehat{l}_t - \frac{d}{Y} \pi_t + \widehat{G}_t - \tau_Y \widehat{Y}_t \right] + s_b \widetilde{r}_t - (R-1) \, s_m \widehat{m}_t. \tag{A.33}$$

Under the tax rule (34) stability of the government liabilities process requires that the coefficient on \hat{l}_t be less than one, so that fiscal policy is passive (active) if and only if $|R(1-\tau_l)| < (>) 1$. Hence, the restriction $|R(1-\tau_l)| < 1$ rules out any explosive path of the government liabilities.

References

Annicchiarico, B. and A. Piergallini (2006), Monetary Rules and Deficit Shocks. Spanish Economic Review, forthcoming.

Ascari, G. and N. Rankin (2006), Perpetual Youth and Endogenous Labour Supply:

A Problem and a Possible Solution. Journal of Macroeconomics, forthcoming.

Benigno, G. and P. Benigno (2003), Designing Targeting Rules for International Monetary Cooperation. *ECB Working Paper Series* 279.

Bullard, J. and K. Mitra (2002), Learning about Monetary Policy Rules. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 49, 1105-1129.

Blanchard, O. J. (1985), Debt, Deficits, and Finite Horizons. *Journal of Political Economy* 93, 223-247.

Blanchard, O. J. and R. Perotti (2002), An Empirical Characterization of the Dynamic Effects of Changes in Government Spending and Taxes on Output. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117, 1329-1368.

Brock, W. A. (1975), A Simple Perfect Foresight Monetary Model. *Journal of Mone*tary Economics 1, 133-150.

Calvo, G.A. (1983), Staggered Prices in a Utility Maximizing Framework. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 12, 383-398.
Clarida, R., Galí, J. and M. Gertler (1998), Monetary Policy Rules in Practice: Some International Evidence. *European Economic Review* 42, 1033-1067.

Clarida, R., Galí, J. and M. Gertler (1999), The Science of Monetary Policy: A New Keynesian Perspective. *Journal of Economic Literature* 37, 1661-1707.

Clarida, R., Galí, J. and M. Gertler (2000), Monetary Rules and Macroeconomic Stability: Evidence and Some Theory. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 15, 147-180.

Fagan, G., Henry, J. and R. Mestre (2005), An Area-Wide Model (AWM) for the Euro Area. *Economic Modelling* 22, 39-59.

Favero, C. and T. Monacelli (2003), Monetary-Fiscal Mix and Inflation Performance:

Evidence from the U.S. IGIER – Università Bocconi, Working Paper 234.

Favero, C. and T. Monacelli (2005), Fiscal Policy Rules and Regime (In)Stability: Evidence from the U.S. *IGIER – Università Bocconi*, *Working Paper* 282.

Frenkel, J. A. and A. Razin (1986), Fiscal Policies in the World Economy. *Journal of Political Economy* 94, 564-594.

Galí, J. (2003), New Perspectives on Monetary Policy, Inflation, and the Business Cycle, in *Advances in Economic Theory*, edited by: M. Dewatripont, L. Hansen, and S. Turnovsky, 3, 151-197, Cambridge University Press.

Galí, J., Gertler, M. and J.D. Lopéz-Salido (2001), European Inflation Dynamics. European Economic Review 45, 1237-1270.

Galí, J., López-Salido, D. and J.D. Vallés (2003), Understanding the Effects of Government Spending on Consumption. *ECB Working Paper Series* 339.

Galí, J., López-Salido, D. and J. D. Vallés (2004), Rule-of-Thumb Consumers and the Design of Interest Rate Rules. *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking* 36, 739-764.

Galí, J. and R. Perotti (2003), Fiscal Policy and Macroeconomic Integration in Europe. Economic Policy 37, 533-572.

Gerlach, S. and G. Schnabel (2000), The Taylor Rule and Interest Rates in the EMU Area. *Economics Letters* 67, 165-171.



Goodfriend, M. and R.G. King (1997), The New Classical Synthesis and the Role of Monetary Policy. *NBER Macroeconomic Annual* 12, 231-283.

Judd, L.P. and G.D. Rudebusch (1998), Taylor's Rule and the Fed: 1970-1997. *Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco Economic Review* 3, 3-16.

Klein, P. (2000), Using the Generalized Schur Form to Solve a Multivariate Linear Rational Expectations Model. *Journal of Economic Dynamics & Control* 24, 1405-1423.

King, R. and M. Watson (1996), Money, Prices, Interest Rates and the Business Cycle. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 78, 35-53.

Leeper, E. (1991), Equilibria under 'Active' and 'Passive' Monetary and Fiscal Policies. Journal of Monetary Economics 27, 129-147.

Leith, C. and S. Wren-Lewis (2000), Interactions between Monetary and Fiscal Policy Rules. *The Economic Journal* 110, C93-C108.

Marini, G. and F. Van der Ploeg (1988), Monetary and Fiscal Policy in an Optimizing

Model with Capital Accumulation and Finite Lives. *The Economic Journal* 98, 772-786. McCallum, B.T. (2001), Should Monetary Policy Respond Strongly to Output Gaps?

American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings 91, 258-262.

McCallum, B.T. (2003), Multiple-Solution Indeterminacies in Monetary Policy Analysis. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 50, 1153-1175.

McCallum, B.T. and E. Nelson (1999a), Performance of Operational Policy Rules in an Estimated Semiclassical Structural Model, in J.B. Taylor (ed.), *Monetary Policy Rules*, Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press, 15-56.

McCallum, B.T. and E. Nelson (1999b), An Optimizing IS-LM Specification for Monetary Policy and Business Cycle Analysis. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking* 31, 296-316.

Mountford, A. and H. Uhlig (2005), What Are the Effects of Fiscal Policy Shocks? SFB 649 Discussion Paper 2005-039.

Orphanides, A. (2001), Monetary Policy Rules Based on Real-Time Data. *American Economic Review* 91, 964-985.

Orphanides, A. (2003), Historical Monetary Policy Analysis and the Taylor Rule. Journal of Monetary Economics 50, 983-1022.

Perotti, R. (2002), Estimating the Effects of Fiscal Policy in OECD Countries. *ECB* Working Paper Series 168.

Piergallini, A. (2006), Real Balance Effects and Monetary Policy. *Economic Inquiry* 44, 497-511.

Rotemberg, J. and M. Woodford (1997), An Optimizing-Based Econometric Framework for the Evaluation of Monetary Policy, in Bernanke, B., Rotemberg J. (eds), *NBER Macroeconomic Annual*, Cambridge MA: The MIT Press, 297-346.

Rotemberg, J. and M. Woodford (1999), Interest Rate Rules in an Estimated Sticky Price Model, in J.B. Taylor (ed.), *Monetary Policy Rules*, Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press, 57-119.

Sauer, S. and J.E. Sturm (2006), Using Taylor Rules to Understand ECB Monetary Policy. *German Economic Review*, forthcoming.

Schmitt-Grohé, S. and M. Uribe (2000), Price Level Determinacy and Monetary Policy under a Balanced-Budget Requirement. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 45, 211-246.

Schmitt-Grohé, S. and M. Uribe (2004), Optimal Simple and Implementable Monetary Policy and Fiscal Rules. *NBER Working Paper* 10253.

Sidrauski, M. (1967), Rational Choice and Patterns of Growth in a Monetary Economy, American Economic Review 57, 534-544.

Sims, C.A. (1988), Identifying Policy Effects, in: Bryant, R.C. et al., *Empirical Macroeconomics for Interdependent Economies*, The Brookings Institutions, Washington, D.C, 305-321.

Smets, F. and R. Wouters (2002), Openness, Imperfect Exchange Rate Pass-Through and Monetary Policy. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 49, 947-981.

Smets, F. and R. Wouters (2003), An Estimated Stochastic Dynamic General Equilibrium Model of the Euro Area. *Journal of European Economic Association* 1, 1123-1175.

Taylor, J.B. (1993), Discretion Versus Policy Rules in Practice. Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy 39, 195-214. Taylor, J. B. (1999a), *Monetary Policy Rules*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Taylor, J. B. (1999b), A Historical Analysis of Monetary Policy Rules, in J.B. Taylor(ed.), *Monetary Policy Rules*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 319-347.

Woodford, M. (2001), The Taylor Rule and Optimal Monetary Policy. *American Economic Review* 91, 232-237.

Woodford, M. (2003), *Interest and Prices*. Princeton and Oxford: Princeton University Press.

Yaari, M.E. (1965), Uncertain Lifetime, Life Insurance, and the Theory of the Consumer. *The Review of Economic Studies* 32, 137-150.



| Baseline Calibration | | |
|---|----------------------------------|-------|
| Steady state real interest rate | r | 0.01 |
| Steady state public spending to output ratio | G/Y | 0.2 |
| Steady state investment to output ratio | I/Y | 0.2 |
| Steady state public debt to output ratio | b/Y | 2.4 |
| Steady state money velocity | PY/M | 0.925 |
| Probability of death | λ | 0.015 |
| Time in employment | N | 1/3 |
| Inverse of the (Frisch) labor supply elasticity | φ | 0.47 |
| Degree of price stickiness | θ | 0.75 |
| Elasticity of output with respect to capital | α | 0.3 |
| Depreciation rate | δ | 0.025 |
| Degree of inertia in the monetary rule | $ ho^r$ | 0.9 |
| Degree of inertia in the balanced-budget rule | ρ^d | 0.9 |
| Implied Parameters | | |
| Discount factor | β | 0.998 |
| Weight of money in the utility function | γ | 0.018 |
| Consumption to output ratio | C/Y | 0.6 |
| Capital to output ratio | K/Y | 8.0 |
| Steady state primary surplus to output ratio | $(\tau - G)/Y$ | 0.024 |
| Consumption to subsistence consumption ratio | $C/\left(C-\widetilde{C}\right)$ | 3.0 |
| Price mark-up | u^p | 0.071 |
| Steady state wage mark-up | u^w | 0.092 |
| Shocks | | |
| Persistence of public spending shock | $ ho_G$ | 0.966 |
| Persistence of technology shock | $ ho_F$ | 0.958 |
| Standard deviation of public spending shock | σ_G | 0.001 |
| Standard deviation of monetary shock | σ_r | 0.001 |
| Standard deviation of wage-push shock | σ_{u^w} | 0.003 |
| Standard deviation of technology shock | σ_F | 0.005 |

TABLE 1

CALIBRATION



| | Values of | ϕ_{π}, ϕ_{Y} | | | |
|----------------------------|-----------|------------------------|-------------|------------|--------------------------|
| Values of τ_l, τ_Y | 1.5, 0.0 | 3.0, 0.0 | 1.5, 0.125 | 3.0, 0.125 | |
| | | | | | |
| | 0.29 | 0.12 | 1.25 | 0.32 | σ_{π} |
| 0100 | 3.33 | 3.43 | 4.04 | 3.50 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.1, 0.0 | 0.26 | 0.20 | 1.08 | 0.37 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.98 | 3.10 | 3.10 | 3.06 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | | | | | |
| | 0.29 | 0.12 | 1.23 | 0.32 | σ_{π} |
| 0.5, 0.0 | 3.34 | 3.51 | 3.98 | 3.55 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.5, 0.0 | 0.26 | 0.20 | 1.06 | 0.37 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.98 | 3.15 | 3.10 | 3.09 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | | | | | |
| | 0.30 | 0.13 | 1.15 | 0.32 | σ_{π} |
| 0105 | 3.37 | 3.47 | 3.94 | 3.58 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.1, 0.5 | 0.28 | 0.21 | 1.01 | 0.38 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 3.08 | 3.23 | 3.12 | 3.26 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |

TABLE 2SIMULATION RESULTS UNDER A PASSIVE TAX RULE

Note: Table reports standard deviations of π_t , \hat{Y}_t , \tilde{r}_t , and \hat{q}_t , respectively (percentages).

| | Values of | | | | |
|----------------------------|-----------|-----------|-------------|------------|--------------------------|
| Values of τ_l, τ_Y | 0.0, 0.0 | 0.5, 0.0 | 0.8, 0.125 | 1.0, 0.125 | |
| | | | | | |
| | 0.47 | 0.59 | 1.01 | 1.29 | σ_{π} |
| 0.0, 0.0 | 2.82 | 2.80 | 2.17 | 2.39 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.0, 0.0 | 0.19 | 0.30 | 0.76 | 1.08 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.41 | 2.45 | 2.20 | 2.41 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | | | | | |
| | 0.94 | 1.24 | 1.55 | 2.85 | σ_{π} |
| 0.0, 0.5 | 3.07 | 3.16 | 2.75 | 4.44 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.0, 0.5 | 0.20 | 0.44 | 0.91 | 2.10 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.87 | 3.01 | 2.74 | 4.36 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | | | | | |
| | 1.03 | 1.40 | 1.92 | 9.46 | σ_{π} |
| 00 08 | 3.28 | 3.48 | 3.30 | 14.27 | $\sigma_{\widehat{Y}}$ |
| 0.0, 0.8 | 0.19 | 0.48 | 1.10 | 7.15 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 3.15 | 3.40 | 3.34 | 14.76 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |

TABLE 3SIMULATION RESULTS UNDER AN ACTIVE TAX RULE

Note: Table reports standard deviations of π_t , \widehat{Y}_t , \widetilde{r}_t , and \widehat{q}_t , respectively (percentages).



| TABLE 4 | SIMULATION RESULTS UNDER THE BALANCED-BUDGET RULE |
|---------|---|
|---------|---|

| | Values of ϕ_{π}, ϕ_{Y} | ϕ_{π}, ϕ_{Y} | | | | | |
|----------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------|----------|----------------|------------|------------|--------------------------|
| Values of δ_Y | 0.0, 0.0 | 0.8, 0.0 | 1.5, 0.0 | 3.0, 0.0 | 1.5, 0.125 | 3.0, 0.125 | |
| | 0.46 | 0.52 | 0.28 | 0.12 | 1.00 | 0.32 | σ_{π} |
| | 2.75 | 2.83 | 3.29 | 3.44 | 3.52 | 3.60 | $\sigma_{\widehat{V}}$ |
| 0.0 | 0.19 | 0.27 | 0.25 | 0.20 | 0.83 | 0.37 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.47 | 2.48 | 2.86 | 3.08 | 2.62 | 3.00 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | 0.72 | 0.62 | 0.28 | 0.18 | 1.01 | 0.32 | σ_{π} |
| | 2.72 | 2.85 | 3.32 | 3.43 | 3.54 | 3.58 | $\sigma_{\widehat{V}}$ |
| -0.1 | 0.20 | 0.33 | 0.25 | 0.25 | 0.83 | 0.38 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 2.48 | 2.46 | 2.89 | 3.02 | 2.61 | 3.05 | $\sigma_{\widehat{q}}$ |
| | 1.09 | 0.97 | 0.61 | | 1.05 | 0.66 | σ_{π} |
| | 3.52 | 2.96 | 3.29 | ·.l: [- · · · | 3.60 | 3.71 | $\sigma_{\widehat{V}}$ |
| c.U– | 0.19 | 0.52 | 0.51 | instability | 0.87 | 0.65 | $\sigma_{\widetilde{r}}$ |
| | 3.40 | 2.51 | 2.71 | | 2.70 | 2.96 | $\sigma_{\widehat{a}}$ |

Note: Table reports standard deviations of π_t , \hat{Y}_t , \tilde{r}_t , and \hat{q}_t , respectively (percentages).



FIGURE 1 DETERMINACY SPACE UNDER A TAX RULE

FIGURE 2

IMPULSE RESPONSE FUNCTIONS TO A UNIT GOVERNMENT SPENDING SHOCK UNDER A TAX RULE

A: Passive Fiscal Policy and Active Monetary Policy



B: Active Fiscal Policy and Passive Monetary Policy





FIGURE 3 DETERMINACY SPACE UNDER A BALANCED-BUDGET RULE



FIGURE 4

IMPULSE RESPONSE FUNCTIONS TO A UNIT GOVERNMENT SPENDING SHOCK UNDER A BALANCED-BUDGET RULE A: Active Monetary Policy







FIGURE 5



A: Active Monetary Policy



B: Passive Monetary Policy



ECB Working Paper Series No 661 July 2006

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 600 "A speed limit monetary policy rule for the euro area" by L. Stracca, April 2006.
- 601 "Excess burden and the cost of inefficiency in public services provision" by A. Afonso and V. Gaspar, April 2006.
- 602 "Job flow dynamics and firing restrictions: evidence from Europe" by J. Messina and G. Vallanti, April 2006.
- 603 "Estimating multi-country VAR models" by F. Canova and M. Ciccarelli, April 2006.
- 604 "A dynamic model of settlement" by T. Koeppl, C. Monnet and T. Temzelides, April 2006.
- 605 "(Un)Predictability and macroeconomic stability" by A. D'Agostino, D. Giannone and P. Surico, April 2006.
- 606 "Measuring the importance of the uniform nonsynchronization hypothesis" by D. A. Dias, C. Robalo Marques and J. M. C. Santos Silva, April 2006.
- 607 "Price setting behaviour in the Netherlands: results of a survey" by M. Hoeberichts and A. Stokman, April 2006.
- 608 "How does information affect the comovement between interest rates and exchange rates?" by M. Sánchez, April 2006.
- 609 "The elusive welfare economics of price stability as a monetary policy objective: why New Keynesian central bankers should validate core inflation" by W. H. Buiter, April 2006.
- 610 "Real-time model uncertainty in the United States: the Fed from 1996-2003" by R. J. Tetlow and B. Ironside, April 2006.
- 611 "Monetary policy, determinacy, and learnability in the open economy" by J. Bullard and E. Schaling, April 2006.
- 612 "Optimal fiscal and monetary policy in a medium-scale macroeconomic model" by S. Schmitt-Grohé and M. Uribe, April 2006.
- 613 "Welfare-based monetary policy rules in an estimated DSGE model of the US economy" by M. Juillard, P. Karam, D. Laxton and P. Pesenti, April 2006.
- 614 "Expenditure switching vs. real exchange rate stabilization: competing objectives for exchange rate policy" by M. B. Devereux and C. Engel, April 2006.
- 615 "Quantitative goals for monetary policy" by A. Fatás, I. Mihov and A. K. Rose, April 2006.
- 616 "Global financial transmission of monetary policy shocks" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, April 2006.
- 617 "New survey evidence on the pricing behaviour of Luxembourg firms" by P. Lünnemann and T. Y. Mathä, May 2006.

- 618 "The patterns and determinants of price setting in the Belgian industry" by D. Cornille and M. Dossche, May 2006.
- 619 "Cyclical inflation divergence and different labor market institutions in the EMU" by A. Campolmi and E. Faia, May 2006.
- 620 "Does fiscal policy matter for the trade account? A panel cointegration study" by K. Funke and C. Nickel, May 2006.
- 621 "Assessing predetermined expectations in the standard sticky-price model: a Bayesian approach" by P. Welz, May 2006.
- 622 "Short-term forecasts of euro area real GDP growth: an assessment of real-time performance based on vintage data" by M. Diron, May 2006.
- 623 "Human capital, the structure of production, and growth" by A. Ciccone and E. Papaioannou, May 2006.
- 624 "Foreign reserves management subject to a policy objective" by J. Coche, M. Koivu, K. Nyholm and V. Poikonen, May 2006.
- 625 "Sectoral explanations of employment in Europe: the role of services" by A. D'Agostino, R. Serafini and M. Ward-Warmedinger, May 2006.
- 626 "Financial integration, international portfolio choice and the European Monetary Union" by R. A. De Santis and B. Gérard, May 2006.
- 627 "Euro area banking sector integration: using hierarchical cluster analysis techniques" by C. Kok Sørensen, J. M. Puigvert Gutiérrez, May 2006.
- 628 "Long-run money demand in the new EU Member States with exchange rate effects" by C. Dreger, H.-E. Reimers and B. Roffia, May 2006.
- 629 "A market microstructure analysis of foreign exchange intervention" by P. Vitale, May 2006.
- 630 "Implications of monetary union for catching-up member states" by M. Sánchez, May 2006.
- 631 "Which news moves the euro area bond market?" by M. Andersson, L. J. Hansen and S. Sebestyén, May 2006.
- 632 "Does information help recovering structural shocks from past observations?" by D. Giannone and L. Reichlin, May 2006.
- 633 "Nowcasting GDP and inflation: the real-time informational content of macroeconomic data releases" by D. Giannone, L. Reichlin and D. H. Small, May 2006.
- 634 "Expenditure reform in industrialised countries: a case study approach" by S. Hauptmeier, M. Heipertz and L. Schuknecht, May 2006.
- 635 "Identifying the role of labor markets for monetary policy in an estimated DSGE model" by K. Christoffel, K. Kuester and T. Linzert, June 2006.
- 636 "Exchange rate stabilization in developed and underdeveloped capital markets" by V. Chmelarova and G. Schnabl, June 2006.



- 637 "Transparency, expectations, and forecasts" by A. Bauer, R. Eisenbeis, D. Waggoner and T. Zha, June 2006.
- 638 "Detecting and predicting forecast breakdowns" by R. Giacomini and B. Rossi, June 2006.
- 639 "Optimal monetary policy with uncertainty about financial frictions" by R. Moessner, June 2006.
- 640 "Employment stickiness in small manufacturing firms" by P. Vermeulen, June 2006.
- 641 "A factor risk model with reference returns for the US dollar and Japanese yen bond markets" by C. Bernadell, J. Coche and K. Nyholm, June 2006.
- 642 "Financing constraints and firms' cash policy in the euro area" by R. Pál and A. Ferrando, June 2006.
- 643 "Inflation forecast-based-rules and indeterminacy: a puzzle and a resolution" by P. Levine, P. McAdam and J. Pearlman, June 2006.
- 644 "Adaptive learning, persistence, and optimal monetary policy" by V. Gaspar, F. Smets and D. Vestin, June 2006.
- 645 "Are internet prices sticky?" by P. Lünnemann and L. Wintr, June 2006.
- 646 "The Dutch block of the ESCB multi-country model" by E. Angelini, F. Boissay and M. Ciccarelli, June 2006.
- 647 "The economic effects of exogenous fiscal shocks in Spain: a SVAR approach" by F. de Castro Fernández and P. Hernández de Cos, June 2006.
- 648 "Firm-specific production factors in a DSGE model with Taylor price setting" by G. de Walque, F. Smets and R. Wouters, June 2006.
- 649 "Monetary and fiscal policy interactions in a New Keynesian model with capital accumulation and non-Ricardian consumers" by C. Leith and L. von Thadden, June 2006.
- 650 "A structural break in the effects of Japanese foreign exchange intervention on yen/dollar exchange rate volatility" by E. Hillebrand and G. Schnabl, June 2006.
- 651 "On the determinants of external imbalances and net international portfolio flows: a global perspective" by R. A. De Santis and M. Lührmann, July 2006.
- 652 "Consumer price adjustment under the microscope: Germany in a period of low inflation" by J. Hoffmann and J.-R. Kurz-Kim, July 2006.
- 653 "Acquisition versus greenfield: the impact of the mode of foreign bank entry on information and bank lending rates" by S. Claeys and C. Hainz, July 2006.
- 654 "The German block of the ESCB multi-country model" by I. Vetlov and T. Warmedinger, July 2006.
- 655 "Fiscal and monetary policy in the enlarged European Union" by S. Pogorelec, July 2006.
- 656 "Public debt and long-term interest rates: the case of Germany, Italy and the USA" by P. Paesani, R. Strauch and M. Kremer, July 2006.
- 657 "The impact of ECB monetary policy decisions and communication on the yield curve" by C. Brand, D. Buncic and J. Turunen, July 2006.

- 658 "The response of firms' investment and financing to adverse cash flow shocks: the role of bank relationships" by C. Fuss and P. Vermeulen, July 2006.
- 659 "Monetary policy rules in the pre-EMU era: Is there a common rule?" by M. Eleftheriou, D. Gerdesmeier and B. Roffia, July 2006.
- 660 "The Italian block of the ESCB multi-country model" by E. Angelini, A. D'Agostino and P. McAdam, July 2006.
- 661 "Fiscal policy in a monetary economy with capital and finite lifetime" by B. Annicchiarico, N. Giammarioli and A. Piergallini, July 2006.



